Mississippi State University Scholars Junction

Theses and Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

1-1-2017

# An Investigative Study Toward the Development of a Crosslinked Porcine Xenograft Meniscus Total Replacement

Patrick Ehren Barton

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td

## **Recommended Citation**

Barton, Patrick Ehren, "An Investigative Study Toward the Development of a Crosslinked Porcine Xenograft Meniscus Total Replacement" (2017). *Theses and Dissertations*. 608. https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td/608

This Graduate Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Scholars Junction. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholars Junction. For more information, please contact scholcomm@msstate.libanswers.com.



An investigative study toward the development of a crosslinked porcine xenograft

meniscus total replacement

By

Patrick Ehren Barton

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Mississippi State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering in the Bagley College of Engineering

Mississippi State, Mississippi

December 2017



Copyright by

Patrick Ehren Barton



An investigative study toward the development of a crosslinked porcine xenograft

meniscus total replacement

By

Patrick Ehren Barton

Approved:

Steven H. Elder (Major Professor)

Lauren B. Priddy (Committee Member)

Chartrisa LaShan Simpson (Committee Member)

Jeb C. Cade (Committee Member)

Jason M. Keith Dean Bagley College of Engineering



Name: Patrick Ehren Barton
Date of Degree: December 8, 2017
Institution: Mississippi State University
Major Field: Biomedical Engineering
Major Professor: Steven Elder
Title of Study: An investigative study toward the development of a crosslinked porcine xenograft meniscus total replacement

Pages in Study: 68

Candidate for Degree of Master of Science

Meniscus damage is very common and eventually leads to the deterioration of the entire knee joint. The goal of this study was to provide evidence that supports a proof of concept for a decellularized porcine meniscal xenograft to be used as a treatment method for meniscal injury as a partial or full meniscus transplant. This research adapted an antigen removal protocol for articular cartilage to produce decellularized xenografts in 48% of the time and with no significant difference in DNA content as other current methods. DNA and GAG content, and the compression moduli were significantly lower in the xenograft than the control, but collagen content remained the same. Tensile modulus and ultimate tensile stress were significantly higher for the xenograft than the control. Crosslinking analysis was performed and 0.2% genipin was found to have a significantly higher degree of crosslinking than the rest.



# DEDICATION

This body of work is dedicated to my wonderful wife Britton and our son Ehren. She has given so much of her time and effort to support me throughout graduate school. Without her, I wouldn't be half the man that I am today. I am so happy to have you in my life. J'taime beaucoup, tu es l'amour de ma vie!



# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to give a sincere thank you to the following people and organizations:

- Dr. Steven Elder, for being my research mentor, for guiding me over the last two years of study and research, and for all the usage and advice in the lab.
- Dr. Priddy and Dr. Simpson, for helping me to develop the writing and articulation of my research from the research perspective as a reading committee member.
- Dr. Cade, for the extended surgical shadowing experience at the Vet School, and for assisting me in writing of this body of work as a reading committee member.
- Friends and colleagues -Justin McMahan, Michael Murphy,
   Preston Smith, Courtney White, and Leah Horstemeyer for always
   being available in the grad office and lab to answer questions and
   give advice.
- ITS Department and Dr. Amy Berryhill, for employing me as a graduate assistant and working with me over the last two years.
- MSU Soccer Coaching Staff and Players, for a wonderful two years of getting to play and share the beautiful game with you.



iii

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONii					
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii					
LIST OF TABLES					
LIST OF FIGURES					
CHAPTER					
I. LITERATURE REVIEW1					
The Meniscus    1      Anatomical Review    2      Biochemical Content    3					
Zones of the Meniscus					
Tear Classification					
Diagnosis					
Treatment Options					
Open Repair					
Meniscus Replacement					
Autologous Chondrocytes					
Xenogeneic Chondrocytes					
Synthetic Polymer Implants					
ECM Component Implants					



	Conclusion	28
	References	30
II.	RESEARCH	39
	T / 1 /	20
	Experimental Methods	42
	Experiment 1: Antigen Removal Protocol	
	Stabile Protocol	43
	Protocol 1	43
	Protocol 2	43
	Protocol 3	44
	Experiment 2: Biochemical and Biomechanical Analysis of Protocol	
	3	45
	Papain Digestion	45
	Biochemical Analysis	46
	Compression Testing	46
	Tensile Testing	48
	Experiment 3: Crosslinking Assessment and Permeability	50
	Crosslinking Assessment	51
	Crosslinking Permeability	52
	Results	52
	Experiment 1: Antigen Removal Protocol	52
	Experiment 2: Biochemical and Biomechanical Analysis of Protocol	
	3	54
	Microscopy	54
	DNA Analysis	56
	GAG Analysis	57
	Collagen Content	58
	Compression Testing	59
	Tensile Testing	60
	Experiment 3: Crosslinking Assessment and Permeability	61
	Crosslinking Assessment	61
	Crosslinking Permeability	64
	Discussion	65
	References	68



# LIST OF TABLES

2.1	DNA Content in ng DNA/mg of three antigen removal protocols (P1, P2, P3), a fresh tissue control (FTC), and the Stabile antigen removal protocol (SP).	53
2.2	T-Tests (LSD) for DNA Content in ng DNA/mg from SAS Output	54
2.3	Average Compression Moduli Comparison between FTC and P3	60
2.4	Comparison of tensile properties of FTC and P3 calculated from testing data.	61
2.5	T-Test (LSD) for degree of crosslinking for four differently crosslinking treatments.	63
2.6	T-Tests (LSD) for the Degree of Crosslinking of Pretreatment Protocols.	65



# LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	Superior view of the knee and menisci. <sup>6</sup> 2
1.2	Collagen orientation creates and inner and outer zone of the meniscus. <sup>91</sup>
1.3	The vascular zones of the meniscus
1.4	Visual representations of the different types of meniscal tears. <sup>6</sup>
2.1	Stress-Relaxation Compression Test: Five compressions, increasing in 5% increments, allowing for the tissue to relax in between intervals
2.2	Stress vs strain graph to calculate the instantaneous and equilibrium moduli from compression data47
2.3	The custom made tissue punch and the resulting dumbbell shaped tissue removed from the original meniscus tissue
2.4	Tensile Testing Setup: The sample was clamped in place at both ends on the MTI-2K machine (left). An excepted test with structural failure occurring in the middle portion of the tissue sample (right)
2.5	Stress vs Strain Graph: The stiffness modulus was defined as the maximum slope of the elastic region
2.6	Vertical cross section of a meniscus with the inner portion removed. Both portions are assed for percent crosslinking to determine permeability
2.7	DNA content in ng DNA/mg for the three antigen removal protocols (P1, P2, P3) a fresh tissue control (FTC) and the Stabile antigen removal protocol (SP)53
2.8	20x image of Safranin-O stained vertical cross section of FTC (left) and P3(right) meniscus. A) FTC femoral surface B) P3 femoral surface C) FTC midsection D) P3 midsection55



vii

2.9	5x magnification compiled mosaic of the FTC (left) and P3 (right) menisci. A) FTC meniscus B) P3 meniscus	56
2.10	DNA Content Comparison between FTC and P3. Menisci treated using P3 have a significantly lower DNA Content (ng DNA/mg) than FTC.	57
2.11	GAG Content Analysis between FTC and P3	58
2.12	P3 meniscus cross section under cross polarization to show collagen bundle structure and orientation	59
2.13	Collagen Content Analysis between FTC and P3	59
2.14	Cross sections of four different crosslinking treatments. A) 0.2% Genipin B) 0.04% Genipin C) 0.008% Genipin D) 1% EGCG	61
2.15	The permeability of genipin and EGCG as a crosslinking agent with regards to degree of crosslinking for menisci	62
2.16	Degree of Crosslinking results for the freezes-dry, the salt solution bath and freeze-dry, and control pretreatments for genipin crosslinking	64



# CHAPTER I

# LITERATURE REVIEW

The overall goal of this study was to investigate and determine the ideal meniscus replacement implant to be used in conjunction with a total meniscectomy. When a meniscus suffers significant damage due to disease or injury, it eventually leads to the breakdown of the articular cartilage of the knee. This deterioration of the articular cartilage leads to the overall deterioration of the whole joint. If the damaged meniscus could be identified in the early stages of deterioration, it can be resected and replaced by an implant that would prevent further deterioration. This study first analyses the meniscus as a whole, its tissue components, role in the functionality of the joint, and the biomechanical properties of the meniscus. Next, the ways that a meniscus can become damaged, either through injury or disease, and how these damages are treated is described and assessed. Finally, this study evaluates the current implant types in development and recommends the most ideal choice of implant.

## The Meniscus

The meniscus is a crescent, or "C" shaped cartilaginous tissue in the knee joint. It is comprised of a lateral and a medial component and is situated between the femoral condyles and the tibial plateau. The main functions of the meniscus are to act as a load-bearer, shock absorber, to evenly distributing load transmission through the knee joint, and to provide lubrication and nutrition to the articular cartilage of the femur and tibia<sup>1</sup>.



# **Anatomical Review**

The "C" shape of the meniscus provides the effective coverage and protection for the articular cartilage of the femur and tibia while leaving the innermost portion of the knee joint, between the femoral condyles, exposed. It is in that exposed region where the insertion and origin points for cruciate ligaments, the main stabilizing ligaments of the knee, are located.



Figure 1.1 Superior view of the knee and menisci.<sup>6</sup>

The menisci are wedge shaped with concave proximal surfaces that are aligned directly inferior to the lateral and medial condyles of the femur. The articular cartilage of the femur rests directly on the proximal surface of the meniscus. The distal surface of the meniscus is flat and lies superior to the articular surfaces of the lateral and medial condyles of the head of the tibia. The menisci are connected to the tibial plateau by the horn attachments on the anterior and posterior horns of the crescent. The anterior horn is



attached anteriorly to the anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) and the posterior horn is attached anteriorly to the posterior cruciate ligament (PCL).

Comparing the two menisci, the lateral meniscus is larger, has more variation in size, and covers more of the tibial plateau than the medial meniscus<sup>2,3,4,5</sup>. The lateral meniscus also has more ligament connections than the medial meniscus. The anterior and posterior horns of the lateral meniscus are connected by the transverse (intermeniscal) ligament. The posterior horn has three additional connections, the first two being connections to the PCL and medial condyle of the femur by the meniscofemoral ligaments of Wrisberg, posteriorly to the PCL, and Humprey, anteriorly to the PCL. The third connection is to the popliteal tendon which can act on the posterior horn and move the lateral meniscus during flexion<sup>6</sup>. The medial meniscus lacks any attachment to the tibia via the coronary ligament<sup>7</sup>.

## **Biochemical Content**

Meniscus tissue is very hydrated, with 72% of the weight being water. The remaining 28% of the wet weight is fibroblast cells in an extracellular matrix (ECM) composed of collagen, proteoglycans, DNA, adhesion glycoproteins, and elastin<sup>8,9</sup>. The main types of collagen found in meniscus tissue are type I and type II collagen. There are also trace amounts of types III, IV, VI, and XVIII collagen and elastin found in different regions of the meniscus tissue<sup>10</sup>. Aggrecan is the main large proteoglycan molecule in meniscus tissue and biglycan and decorin are the main smaller proteoglycan molecules<sup>11</sup>. Proteoglycan molecules are extremely important to the functionality of the meniscus. Structurally, proteoglycans have heavily branched and negatively charged



glycosaminoglycan (GAG) molecules bound to a core protein. The negative charges on the heavily branched regions attract water into the meniscus, maintaining the tissue's hydration, the visco-elastic behavior, compressive stiffness, and surface friction reduction of the tissue<sup>12,13</sup>.

## **Zones of the Meniscus**

The meniscus has two main zones, the outer zone and the inner zone, with regards to collagen content. The collagen fibers change in orientation and type moving from the most superficial layer inwards. There is also an increase in the concentration of proteoglycans toward the center of the meniscus<sup>14</sup>.

The outer zone of the meniscus is characterized by an ECM comprised of mostly type I collagen and small concentrations of GAGs. The chondrocytes in the outer zone are oval and fusiform<sup>15</sup>. These chondrocytes produce the ECM and lay the type I collagen circumferentially along the "C" shape of the meniscus. There are two distinct layers of collagen, the superficial and surface layers, found in the outer zone.

The inner zone of the meniscus is categorized by an ECM composed from mostly type II collagen, with a smaller but significant percent of type I collagen, and a higher concentration of GAGs. The chondrocytes in the inner zone are more round than the chondrocytes of the outer zone and produce an ECM that includes the circumferential pattern of the type I collagen with the addition of radially arranged collagen to resist longitudinal splitting<sup>16,6</sup>.





Figure 1.2 Collagen orientation creates and inner and outer zone of the meniscus.<sup>91</sup> The meniscus can also described by zones of vascularity. The peripheral meniscus is vascularized by the geniculate arteries through the anterior and posterior horn attachments<sup>17</sup>. The peripheral rim of the meniscus, termed the "red-red zone", is the most vascularized zone with up to 30% vascularity. This percentage continuously decreases with age until the inner two thirds of the menisci are completely avascular<sup>7</sup>. The middle zone is called the "red-white zone" because some vascular tissue is able to penetrate deeper into the meniscus tissue. The most central zone of the meniscus is called the "white-white zone" and is totally avascular, receiving nutrition through synovial fluid diffusion<sup>18</sup>.







The differing vascularities throughout the meniscus have a significant effect on the healing rates of injured meniscus. Areas with higher vascularity have better repair and healing potential than lower or avascular areas<sup>14</sup>.

# **Biomechanical Properties**

The knee joint is a highly active, load bearing joint that exerts a variety of dynamic forces on the meniscus. The meniscus withstands shear, tension, and compressive forces during flexion, extension, and load bearing<sup>1</sup>. The wedge-shape of the meniscus allows for these forces to be stabilized between the curved femoral condyles and the flat surface of the tibial head. The wedge-shape effectively converts the vertical compressive forces exerted on the meniscus from the femur into hoop stress that is contained as tension within the meniscus. Shear forces develop between the collagen fibers as the meniscus is deformed radially by compression<sup>19,20,21</sup>.

Values for these forces have been calculated and documented in many studies. The shear forces on the meniscus is approximately 120 kPa<sup>22</sup>. The tensile properties of the meniscus are significantly different depending on the direction of the tensile force. The circumferential tensile strength is approximately 100-300 MPa, while the radial tensile strength is approximately 10-30 MPa. The meniscus resists axial compression



with an approximate stress of 100-150 kPa<sup>23</sup>. The meniscus occupies 60% of the contact area between the femoral and tibial articular cartilage and transmits over 50% of the compression forces on the joint at full extension and 85% of the load at 90° of flexion<sup>24,25</sup>.

#### **Meniscus Injury**

Knee injuries, with meniscal lesions in particular, are the most common injuries requiring surgical intervention in the United States<sup>26,27,28</sup>. These injuries usually occur during sports or sports-related activities that involve cutting and twisting movements, hyperextensions, or high impact<sup>4</sup>. The most common motion that causes a tear in the meniscus is an internal rotation of the femur as the knee moves from a flexed to an extended position, splitting the meniscus longitudinally<sup>6</sup>. Trauma induced meniscal injury usually occurs in conjunction with anterior cruciate ligament tearing, occurring in >80% of cases, and is more common in the medial meniscus<sup>1</sup>.

# **Tear Classification**

Classification of meniscal tears is determined by location and tear pattern. Tears can be denoted by the vascular region in which they occur. Tears in the peripheral attachment sites, either meniscofemoral or meniscotibial, are called red-red tears. Tears located in the middle zone are called red-white tears. These tears typically occur at the junction of the red-red zone and the red-white zone, approximately 4mm from the meniscal attachment. The inner most zonal tears in the avascular region are called whitewhite tears<sup>1</sup>. Classifying tears due to their vascular zone is important because the healing potential is significantly different in the different regions. A red-red tear has a much



greater chance of healing naturally than a white-white tear, which almost always requires surgical repair.

# **Tear Patterns**

There are five types of tear patterns for meniscal lesions caused by traumatic injury and a specific tear pattern for gradual degeneration. The five tears caused by traumatic injury can either be partial or full tears of the tissue, with partially torn tissue having a greater healing potential than fully torn tissue.



Figure 1.4 Visual representations of the different types of meniscal tears.<sup>6</sup>

Radial tears occur perpendicular to the circumferentially oriented collagen and often occur along with ACL injury. Longitudinal tears run along circumferentially oriented collagen fibers along the length of the meniscus. A bucket-handle tear is a full depth longitudinal tear that causes additional problems because it creates a long segment of the meniscus that has separated from the main body of the meniscus. This segment, which resembles a "bucket handle", can get caught on the medial side of the femoral condyle and cause joint locking. Horizontal tears form in the body of the meniscus and eventually bisect the tissue into a superior portion and an inferior portion. These tears are difficult to identify and are even more difficult to repair. Flap tears are horizontal tears that occur in a close proximity to the surface and cause a flap of the surface tissue to open



and close with movement. Complex tears occur when there are multiple tears in multiple planes. These types of tears are difficult to repair and are commonly found in degenerative cases. Complex tears are normally too damaged to repair and require a meniscectomy<sup>6</sup>.

Degenerative injury causes a specific tear pattern, referred to as a degenerative tear, and is characterized by a frayed edge appearance of the medial portion of the meniscus. Meniscal lesions that develop as a result of gradual degeneration usually appear in tandem with other degenerative problems in the knee. These types of tears are very common, especially in subjects with knee pain or osteoarthritis. One study of patients over the age of 65 found that 91% of patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis had degenerative tears<sup>29</sup>. The study also found that 67% of patients who were asymptomatic for knee pain also had degenerative tears. Because these tears occur in the medial zone of the meniscus, they are entirely in the white-white zone and have almost no healing capability. The only treatment option for degenerative tears is a partial or full meniscectomy. The high prevalence of degenerative tears in the population combined with the only treatment option being a meniscectomy, means that there is a large demand for an effective meniscus implant.

# Diagnosis

A comprehensive examination is required in order to diagnose a meniscal tear. Tibiofemoral joint-line tenderness is the primary indicator of a meniscal tear<sup>24</sup>. Symptoms of joint tenderness include joint stiffness, swelling, pain, lack of full extension, and deformity. The assessment of the tibiofemoral joint line is performed with the patient lying on a flat surface with the knee positioned at a 90 flexion.



www.manaraa.com

# Osteoarthritis

The primary long term consequence of meniscal injury is the development of osteoarthritis in the knee joint. Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common degenerative joint disease that affects more than 25% of the adult population<sup>30</sup>. Symptoms of OA include chronic pain, joint instability, and stiffness. This is due to a progressive loss and destruction of articular cartilage, thickening of the subchondral bone in response to greater shear forces on the bone, formation of bone spurs in the joint, significant increase in inflammation in the synovial cavity, and a degeneration of the ligaments and meniscus leading to a narrowing of the joint space<sup>31</sup>. There is significant data that supports that past meniscus injury has a strong correlation to the prevalence of OA<sup>32</sup>. A study of former NFL athletes found that athletes with a history of meniscal repair were almost 3 times more likely to develop OA, and that players who underwent a partial meniscectomy were 6 times more likely to develop OA<sup>33</sup>. Other factors that contribute to the development of OA include obesity, aging, and heredity<sup>34</sup>.

The molecular mechanisms that facilitate the start and progression of OA are not well understood and there are currently no known treatments to restore degraded cartilage or stop the progression of the disease<sup>30</sup>. Nonsurgical treatment of OA is limited to antiinflammatory drugs including NSAIDs and hyaluronic acid or corticosteroid injections<sup>35,36</sup>. Once the disease progresses to include severe articular cartilage damage and bone fragmentation, surgical intervention is needed. Arthroscopic surgery can be performed to remove rough edges and bone fragments in the joint, but more severe cases require a more invasive option. An osteotomy can be performed to remove a severely damaged portion of either the tibia or the femur to relieve pressure on the joint. An



osteotomy will only delay the need for a total knee arthroplasty, the eventual end treatment for OA. The degradation of the joint will eventually become so severe that a partial or total knee replacement will need to be performed. The surgically reconstructed joint is made of metal, plastic, or combination of the two and is anchored into the shafts of tibia and femur after the diseased tissue has been removed<sup>37,38</sup>.

#### **Treatment Options**

There are three main treatment options for a meniscus tear: surgical repair, meniscectomy, and meniscus replacement. In order to determine the proper course of treatment, an arthroscopic survey and MRI scan of the tissue is performed. The course of treatment is dependent on the location and the severity of the tear, as well as the age and overall health of the patient. The end goal of the treatment option chosen is to delay the onset of OA for as long as possible if not indefinitely. Some tears do not require surgical intervention. These tears are typically red-red tears and tears smaller than 8mm that have minimal damage to the main body of the meniscus<sup>6</sup>. Because these tears occur in the vascularized region, their potential for healing is far greater.

#### Surgical Repair

Meniscus tears that are good candidates for meniscal repair are unstable red-white tears that are longer than 10-12mm in active patients under the age of 50<sup>24,25</sup>. Typical tear patterns that have higher success rates of repair are longitudinal, radial, or bucket-handle tears<sup>39</sup>. Longitudinal tears are generally the most successful with nearly an 85% healing rate<sup>40</sup>. Longitudinal tears are caused by excessive compression and tear the meniscus along the circumferential collagen fibers, which remain intact. These fibers are



vital in the strength and force dissipation of the meniscus. Suturing these back together, most closely resembles an uninjured tissue, which leads to the high rates of success<sup>41</sup>. There are two main types of meniscal surgical repair, arthroscopic and open repair.

# Arthroscopic Repair

There are three techniques that can be used during an arthroscopic repair of a meniscus tear, inside-out, outside-in, and all-inside<sup>39</sup>. The inside-out and the outside-in techniques require a 2.5-4cm accessory posteromedial or posterolateral incision for suture retrieval. The all-inside technique is completely arthroscopic and does not require an incision<sup>25</sup>. In all surgeries, the meniscus is prepared by performing a granulation tissue debridement with a meniscal rasp on the edges of the meniscal tear and perimeniscal tissue surrounding the tear<sup>42</sup>. This increases the vascular infiltration to the tear and in the adjacent tissue that significantly aids in the healing process.

The inside-out technique is the considered the gold standard classical technique for meniscus repair<sup>42</sup>. The technique is very versatile, with the ability to repair most tear patterns, and allows for the use of smaller diameter needles. The disadvantages of the inside-out technique include an increased risk of neurovascular injury to the popliteal vessels, an increased surgical time, post-operative pain, necessity for a surgical incision, and needlestick injury to the surgeon. Using a cannula to guide a long needle, the sutures are started from within the meniscus and pass through the tissue toward posterior. On each pass, the needle exits either through the posteromedial or posterolateral incision so another throw can be initiated<sup>43</sup>. Once complete the sutures are tied over the capsules on the periphery of the meniscus.



The outside-in technique is typically only used for longitudinal tears of the anterior horn of the meniscus because there is limited arthroscopic access in the region<sup>40</sup>. Tears are sutured with spinal needles that are pushed through the outer rim of the meniscus and then through the torn fragment. One main advantage of this technique is the ability to avoid neurovascular injury of the surrounding tissue without creating a large posterior incision<sup>18</sup>. The two main disadvantages of this technique is the use of larger diameter needles, which cause more damage when passed through the body of the meniscus, and difficulty of tying perpendicular sutures in tears adjacent to the posterior horn attachment.

The all-inside technique is a completely arthroscopic procedure characterized by the use of bioabsorbable repair devices including arrows, screws, darts, and staples instead of sutures<sup>18</sup>. Currently the most frequently used devices are suture-like anchors that are fixed to the meniscus fragments and then connected using a polyester nonabsorbable suture. These anchors can be oriented many different ways and thus can repair many types of tears. All-inside repairs are becoming more popular because the procedure does not require the need of an accessory incision and has a shorter surgical time<sup>42</sup>. The all-inside technique has significantly developed since its invention in 1991, but historically some of the devices have been found to be mechanically inferior to sutures<sup>18,44</sup>. The newer suture-like anchors have shown to be comparable to the sutures used in the inside-out technique in strength, flexibility, and load-to-failure<sup>42,18</sup>.

# **Open Repair**

Open repair was the original method of meniscal repair. This technique requires a 20-30cm incision, through tendon and muscle, to visualize the entire joint. Vertical

13

المنسارات

sutures are usually used to repair any tears<sup>39</sup>. Due to the size of the incision, there is a 3 month recovery along with increased risk of infection, blood clotting within the joint, and further cartilage damage. Open repairs have become less and less common as arthroscopic techniques have developed, but they are performed when the medial compartment is too tight or if the knee is already opened for a separate procedure<sup>40</sup>.

#### Meniscectomy

In cases with more significant meniscal damage or a white-white tear, surgical repair is not recommended and a partial meniscectomy is performed. In a meniscectomy, the overly damaged portion of the meniscus is resected, leaving the healthy portions to maintain the function of the knee joint and compensate for the missing portion. A partial meniscectomy is also the recommended treatment option for patients over 50, sedentary patients, or patients unwilling to comply with the rehabilitation procedures required after a meniscal surgical repair. Complex tears and degenerative tears must be treated via partial meniscectomy, making it the most commonly performed surgical treatment for a meniscal tear<sup>45</sup>. Horizontal tears, caused by excessive shear forces, are usually degenerative and must also be removed with a partial meniscectomy<sup>46</sup>. Partial meniscectomies speed up the progression of OA within the knee joint and are generally only performed on older patients. However, due to the shorter rehabilitation period of a partial meniscectomy, it is often chosen over a meniscal repair by competitive athletes who wish to resume training as soon as possible<sup>12</sup>.



#### Meniscus Replacement

Due to the significant correlation of early OA development with meniscal repair and partial meniscectomy, alternative methods to replace rather than repair the meniscus have been investigated. Replacing the damaged meniscus with healthy tissue or tissue substitute would prevent further damage to the articular cartilage and potentially halt the onset of OA. The advancement of tissue engineering has allowed for the development of tissue or tissue-like scaffolds that mimic the collagenous framework of the native meniscus tissue. These scaffolds can then either be populated by chondrocytes, creating a living tissue implant, or promote healing and regeneration of the host tissue within the scaffold. The scaffold is then implanted into the patient as a functional, biologically active transplant. The development of tissue engineering has been so significant that there are now several different methods to custom design a fully functioning scaffold to fit to a patient's knee<sup>1,47</sup>.

There are two general types of tissue engineered scaffolds, categorized by the amount of the damaged meniscus initially removed. The first type of tissue engineered scaffolds is designed for partial meniscectomies. These scaffolds are designed to integrate fully into the host tissue and facilitate the reconstruction of the meniscal tissue. Due to the widespread use of partial meniscectomy, meniscus reconstruction scaffolds have increasingly become in demand. After removing the damaged meniscus tissue, a custom-sized scaffold is fitted and sutured to the body of the original meniscus<sup>48</sup>. As the injury heals, the highly porous scaffold facilitates the regeneration of meniscus-like tissue to infiltrate and eventually replace the scaffold with native tissue<sup>49</sup>. Short and long term studies have both shown that the reconstruction implants have improve knee function,



pain reduction, and restoration of activity levels<sup>49,50,51</sup>. Generally, meniscus reconstructions are more effective for trauma induced meniscal tears, rather than degenerative or complex tears.

The second type of tissue engineered scaffolds is a total meniscus replacement scaffold. When the damage to the meniscus is too great or the meniscus is riddled with degenerative tears, a total meniscectomy of the body of the meniscus should be performed. Because there is none of the body of the host meniscus remaining, the full replacement must be able to perform all of the mechanical functionalities of a meniscus upon implantation, while promoting cellular migration to eventually allow the graft to perform all of the biological functionalities as well. The total replacement also needs to promote host tissue integration from the remaining vascular peripheral tissue to fully be assimilated as a transplant. Clinical evidence shows that total meniscus allograft transplantations (MAT) have proven to be very successful treatment methods for meniscus repair.<sup>52</sup>

# Cell Sources for Tissue Engineering

One trait that all tissue engineered scaffolds have in common is that the final product of implant production and processing is acellular. An effective acellular implant must allow for the host to facilitate healing and integration via cellular migration and vascularization. This can either be achieved by the host after the implantation of a decellularized scaffold or the scaffold can be pre-seeded with cells before transplantation. Cell compatibility is a major concern because any cell, protein, or enzyme that is seen as foreign will trigger an immune response and cause the scaffold to be rejected. Cell



sources are assessed by their immune response limitation and the availability of healthy cells.

## Autologous Chondrocytes

Autologous chondrocytes are the obvious first cell source to investigate because they are directly collected from the patient and there is no need for additional processing of the cells. The main drawback for autologous chondrocytes is cell availability. In order to collect cells for the autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI), a pre-transplant surgery must be performed to gather thin slices of cartilage from minor weight bearing areas of the joint $^{1,53}$ . This allows for the maximum amount of chondrocytes to be harvested while minimizing the trauma to the joint. The number of cells harvested is limited because the ratio of chondrocytes to collagenous ECM in a meniscus is extremely small and the cells producing the desired GAG matrix located only within the inner collagenous zone of the meniscus<sup>54,55,56</sup>. This small number of cells can be expanded via a monolayer culture. However, this monolayer causes the cells to differentiate into the chondrocyte morphology found in the outer collagenous zone which have a significant downregulation of ECM gene expression, causing them to produce less ECM matrix with the desired GAGs<sup>57</sup>. Another concern with using autologous cells is the possibility of cells already being in a diseased state due to  $OA^{58}$ . Once in the diseased state, the chondrocytes will continue to break down the articular cartilage in the joint as well as an implanted scaffold.

Recent studies of chondrocytes in articular cartilage, which also dedifferentiate when proliferated in a monolayer culture, show that the cells can redifferentiate using a 3D pellet model<sup>59</sup>. The study was performed with OA chondrocytes as well and showed



that after redifferentiation, the cells began exhibiting normal chondrocyte expression. Although this research shows that more viable differentiated cells can be produced, the use of autologous cells is still restricted in clinical practice due to their high cost to collect and prepare.

# Allogenic Chondrocytes

In an attempt to avoid the complications that have risen with using autologous cells, researchers have looked to allogenic cells as a cell source for tissue engineering meniscus scaffolds. Research has shown that allogenic cells are equally effective as autologous cells in functionality and promotion of healing of meniscal lesions<sup>60</sup>. Benefits of allogenic cells are that they can be harvested from cadavers in greater number than autologous sources because the entire tissue can be resected and used. Also, the host immune response to allogenic cells is very limited due to the low vascularity in the region and the dense ECM that surrounds the allogenic cells<sup>56</sup>. Even though meniscus tissue is deemed "immune-privileged", there have been studies that have shown that over time the summation of the limited immune responses from allogenic cells can lead to the overall destruction of the tissue by macrophages, natural killer cells, and T cells<sup>61</sup>.

Drawbacks to allogenic cells include possible disease transmission and availability. Even though allogenic cells can be collected in greater number than autologous cells, the availability of cadaver sources with healthy fresh cells is still limited. There are also limitations with the methods of cryogenically preserving or storing cells in a refrigerated state for a prolonged time. Both storage methods has been shown to reduce the viability, effectiveness, and metabolism of the chondrocytes<sup>62</sup>.



# Xenogeneic Chondrocytes

The main drawback of autologous and allogeneic cell sources is cell availability. Xenogeneic cell sources have the potential to provide for the high demand for chondrocytes to reseed scaffolds and repair lesions. However, using a xenogeneic source of cells has a major drawback in that it generates an immune response from the host. A recent study suggests that that the immune response can be prevented by removing the cellular and molecular mechanisms that trigger an immune response through genetic engineering<sup>53</sup>. This study identified the molecular targets of the human immune system on pig chondrocytes and the pathways of rejection for each target. With the molecular targets and immune system pathways identified, the pig chondrocytes can be genetically engineered to not express these targets and thus avoid the immune response. Researchers have already shown that this can be plausible by using homologous recombination and vector cloning to eliminate the expression of the carbohydrate antigen Gal, a common target against pig tissue by a humoral immune response<sup>63</sup>. Pig tissue is considered to be the best source for xenogeneic cells and tissues because it is domesticated, easily reproducible in large qualities, and has similar physiology and size of cells and tissues to humans<sup>53</sup>.

# Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Another more recent source of cells that has been researched is the adult mesenchymal stem cells (MSC). MSCs are desirable because they naturally have the ability to differentiate into chondrocytes<sup>64</sup>. These cells can be found in bone marrow, adipose tissue, synovium, periosteum, skeletal muscle, skin, amniotic fluid, or umbilical cord blood<sup>65</sup>. Both autologous and allogenic MSCs can be used in research due to their



immunomodulary characteristics<sup>66</sup>. Allogenic MSCs are a promising avenue because patients receiving allogenic MSCs only undergo one surgical treatment instead of the two needed to use autologous MSCs. Research shows that both types of MSCs can be either seeded in a scaffold or injected into the lesion to promote healing and/or tissue integration by the host<sup>65,67</sup>.

A major concern when using MSCs is triggering proper chondrogenesis and differentiation. In order to trigger MSC chondrogenesis there must be a high cellular density with a biological environment stimulated by growth factors<sup>68</sup>. Proper MSC differentiation is driven by a combination of biological and mechanical factors which interact to ensure that the correct cellular differentiation is happening in the correct areas of the meniscus<sup>1</sup>. Growth factors play a vital role in differentiation, but the mechanical stresses to which the cells are exposed also has an impact on cellular differentiation. Properly differentiated chondrocytes are important because they need to be producing the correct ECM matrix that mirrors and integrates with the native tissue surrounding it. The wrong ECM matrix in the wrong area will not be able to maintain the biomechanical functionality of the tissue.

# Types of Meniscus Scaffolds

There are four main classes of meniscus scaffold implants: synthetic polymers, hydrogels, ECM components, and tissue grafts<sup>1</sup>. These classes are based on the method of construction, how the tissue is processed, and the material used to create it. The classes are not mutually exclusive and some researchers have experimented with hybrid combinations of different materials in order design the best model scaffold. A successful scaffold should restore the functionality of the knee (mechanically and biologically),



www.manaraa.com

allow for host tissue integration, degrade once the host tissue has regenerated, and have the ability to be replicated successfully and cost effectively on a large scale.

#### Synthetic Polymer Implants

المسلف في الاستشارات

Synthetic polymer scaffolds are created from durable polymers not normally found in the body but that also are nontoxic and biodegradable. Synthetic scaffolds generally excel at replicating the mechanical functions of the meniscus<sup>1</sup>. The most common types of synthetic scaffold are polyurethane (PU), polycaprolactone (PCL), polylactic acid (PLA), polyglycolic acid (PGA), and polylactic co-glycolic acid (PLGA). These synthetic scaffolds benefit from being able to be fabricated by a variety of different methods, have an almost unlimited supply, and they can be specifically designed to create specific pore sizes and fiber thicknesses to customize the mechanical properties of the scaffold.

The main weakness of synthetic scaffolds is that they have little to no biological activity. This has lead synthetic scaffolds to be designed to maximize the host's regenerative potential to occur within the scaffold's framework. With this design, synthetic scaffolds have been effectively used as partial meniscus reconstructions. Actifit® (Orteq Biologics, London UK) is one of the most successful synthetic meniscus implants on the market. The Actifit® is a honeycomb polyurethane scaffold that provides the maximum space for host tissue reintegration, while still maintaining the minimum mechanical function needed until the host tissue can begin to reassume the function<sup>69</sup>. This minimum level, however, does not provide the load support equivalent to a native meniscus as it only serves to act as scaffolding for new tissue regeneration. Studies have shown that Actifit® excels as a partial meniscus reconstruction, with tissue



reintegration and significant improvement in knee functionality in almost all of the patients tested<sup>70</sup>. However, due to the biological inactivity of the polyurethane and the inability to provide load support equivalent to the native tissue, the Actifit® implant would not be a sufficient total meniscus replacement. The Actifit® implant does prove that an acellular scaffold can be used to regenerate a large portion of the meniscus without having to pre-seed cells directly into the transplant.

Synthetic scaffolds have a place as treatments for partial meniscus reconstructions after a partial meniscectomy. But the biological inactivity and structural weakness of the scaffold prevents its usage as a total meniscus replacement. In order to create a viable synthetic scaffold for total meniscus replacement, a synthetic material or a composite of synthetic and more biologically active material that could provide better structural support would need to be investigated.

### Hydrogel Implants

Hydrogel scaffolds were a result of researchers attempting to create a biologically active meniscus scaffold that most closely resembles the molecular environment of native tissue. Hydrogels have a very high water content, much like native meniscus tissue, and have the ability to have chondrocytes and growth factors seeded directly into the scaffold during creation<sup>71,72</sup>. Hydrogels can be created from synthetic materials or natural components, but the most successful have been made from collagen. Collagen is preferred because it is the main structural component of meniscus tissue leading to a high biocompatibility, is readily available, and scaffold formation can be controlled with pH and temperature<sup>71,73,74</sup>. Collagen based hydrogels are made from dissolving collagen in acid which then are allowed to reassemble into a triple helix structure. These types of



collagen hydrogens have been developed for partial meniscus reconstruction as an implantable scaffold or an injectable ECM hydrogel<sup>75,76</sup>.

The main drawback with hydrogels is their weak mechanical properties. Without modification, hydrogels are unable to withstand the physical and mechanical demands of the tissue and are very difficult to be handled in a clinical setting<sup>71</sup>. There is also an overall shrinking of the scaffold once cells are seeded due to cell-collagen interactions. This leads to a reduced overall size and shape of the scaffold, limiting the scaffolds ability to mimic the native tissue precisely.

In order to overcome the mechanical disadvantages, hydrogels have been supplemented with collagen crosslinkers that significantly increase the stability and mechanical properties of the scaffold. Traditional crosslinkers include glutaraldehyde and formaldehyde, but these chemicals are extremely cytotoxic. Researchers have investigated and found success with less cytotoxic crosslinkers like genipin, epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), and photo-induced crosslinking with riboflavin<sup>77,78,75</sup>. There are several ongoing studies aimed at finding the best balance between mechanical strength and functionality while minimizing cytotoxicity to optimize the potential for hydrogel scaffolds.

Another significant drawback with hydrogels is the difficulty of promoting proper cell differentiation in the scaffold and inducing ECM synthesis<sup>1</sup>. Cells tend to be uniform throughout the matrix, and not vary with location as found in natural tissue. This causes ECM production and tissue regeneration to be biologically different than native tissue. Researchers have attempted to use cellular adhesion to help promote correct cellular morphology within hydrogels to address this issue<sup>79</sup>.



Hydrogels tend to have many more drawbacks than advantages. The high biocompatibility and close-to-natural cellular environment is countered by the difficulty of promoting proper cellular morphology and ECM production. The structural weakness of the tissue can be supplemented with collage crosslinking making hydrogels potentially effective for partial meniscus reconstruction. A significant structural weakness of injectable hydrogels is that there is currently no way to mold the scaffold into any particular shape. Injectable hydrogels could be very successful in filling lesions or resected areas with structural boundaries to hold the hydrogel in place, but they cannot be used for a total replacement. The geometry of the meniscus is too important to the function in the knee joint to not have proper means of shaping or designing it. The combination of inefficient cell differentiation, improper ECM deposition, and mechanical weaknesses, even with crosslinking supplementation, it is not recommend for hydrogels to be used as total meniscus replacements.

## **ECM** Component Implants

ECM component implants are characterized by the fact that they are constructed mainly with macromolecules commonly found in the native meniscus matrix. The most common ECM component implants are made from collagen or hyaluronic acid. Collagen scaffolds have been the most successful. Collagen scaffolds can be created via several manufacturing methods and have strength comparable to synthetic scaffold<sup>1</sup>. In terms of bioactivity, collagen scaffolds can create an effective natural environment for seeded cells much more effectively than synthetic scaffolds and hydrogels. The cellular microenvironments are not exactly identical to the natural tissue, but seeded MSCs in


acellular CMIs have been shown to still be able to produce significant amounts of fibrocartilaginous ECM that integrated with the host tissue<sup>80</sup>.

The first ECM component implant cleared for usage in human patients was a collagen meniscus implant (CMI) called Menaflex®. This CMI is made of bovine Achilles tendon type I collagen and has proven effective at alleviating pain and restoring normal knee function and physical activity along with host tissue integration<sup>14,81,82,83,84</sup>. Disadvantages with the Menaflex® is that the use of bovine collagen carries the risk of disease transmission and possible immunogenic reaction<sup>85</sup>. Another disadvantage is that once the CMI is moistened, it becomes very fragile, making the surgical procedure much more difficult<sup>69</sup>. ECM scaffolds in general tend to have poor cellular infiltration which can make seeding the scaffold difficult<sup>76</sup>.

ECM scaffolds are successful because they strive to be as identical to native meniscus tissue as possible. Structurally they provide mechanical stability and functionality comparable to native tissue. The cellular environments of ECM scaffolds are biologically active and closely resemble native tissue, allowing for proper cellular differentiation and ECM production. ECM scaffolds have been used as partial meniscus reconstructions and also have the potential to be used as a total meniscus replacement.

# Tissue Graft Implants

The final category of meniscus scaffolds are tissue grafts. The ideology behind the first three categories, synthetic, hydrogel, and ECM scaffolds, is an attempt to completely recreate meniscus tissue, in form and function, from various materials through tissue engineering. Mimicking the natural tissue has proven to be difficult due to the subtle differences in collagen content/ orientation and properly dispersed and



differentiated chondrocytes. The ideology of using tissue graft implants is different in that it seeks to use tissue engineering to convert natural meniscus tissue, which is already properly structured, into an acellular implant that can be reseeded with chondrocytes compatible with the host<sup>86</sup>. This alleviates the structural and biocompatibility issues faced by other grafts, but it also creates some unique challenges in creating the implant.

There are two types of tissue grafts that can be used to create an acellular scaffold, categorized by their original donor. Allografts are collected from human cadavers and xenografts are harvested from anatomically similar species of animal. Both types of grafts are processed similarly and must be decellularized. Decellularization is a process in which all cellular components of the past host are removed to prevent an immunogenic response to the new tissue once implanted. There are several methods of decellularization, but generally the cells within the graft are forced to burst by freezing or submersion in either a detergent or a hypotonic solution<sup>87,88</sup>. Then the cellular components are either washed away or digested using DNase and RNase enzymatic activity. The resulting acellular tissue is mechanically weakened through the decellularization process, but this can be countered with the addition of collagen crosslinking to add stability to the tissue<sup>88,77</sup>. The end product is a structurally sound acellular implant.

Allografts at face value seem like the most logical candidate to create a tissue derived scaffold. Ideally it would be a like-for-like change between the donor and host. Originally, allograft menisci were used as a direct transplant and cellular survival was extremely important and various methods of cryopreservation or fresh-frozen protocols were investigated<sup>89</sup>. These transplants had high failure rates due to the preservation



methods killing cells so decellularized allograft scaffolds have become the preferred method<sup>88</sup>.

An implication that should be noted for allografts is the possibility for disease transmission. This was more of a disadvantage when allografts were being used as a direct transplantation. The decellularization and sterilization techniques that would normally be used to create a safe allograft scaffold would prevent disease transmission.

Allograft scaffolds are definitely capable of providing a successful treatment for a partial meniscus reconstruction and a total meniscus replacement. The main disadvantage with allograft scaffolds is tissue availability<sup>80</sup>. With the high incidence of OA in older patients, finding a cadaver with an intact and healthy meniscus can be difficult. This problem is further compounded by the need to size match the donor to the recipient. This causes allograft scaffold creation to very expensive and not an ideal candidate for widespread use of meniscus replacement.

Immunogenic rejection has traditionally prevented the use of xenografts as a transplantable tissue source. Advancement in decellularization techniques has led to the serious possibility of using a xenograft meniscus as a meniscus scaffold. Because the decellularization process removes all traces of cellular material, there is nothing for the host's immune system to generate an immune response to. One key area that needs to be addressed with xenografts is the anatomical differences between the donor species and humans. In a partial meniscus reconstruction, the anatomical difference would not make a significant impact because the desired portion can be cut from the xenograft. In a full meniscal replacement, the anatomical differences could be very significant. Studies on the anatomical similarities between humans and animals have shown that pigs, goats, and



cows have menisci that would be anatomically suitable for usage by humans<sup>90</sup>. The attachment sites are the main anatomical differences in the animal menisci. However, this issue can be solved by designing and applying appropriate attachment sites during creation of the scaffold so they can be easily attached during implantation.

A xenograft scaffold implant is a versatile treatment method for a partial meniscus reconstruction and the most promising treatment option for a total meniscus replacement. The framework of the collagen fibers from the tissue graft is already properly oriented to encourage the development of proper cell morphology within the scaffold. This allows the cells to produce the appropriate microenvironment and ECM matrix to begin the regeneration and host integration process. The availability of xenograft meniscus tissue is almost unlimited, especially with porcine tissue, and decellularized scaffolds can be frozen and stored<sup>91</sup>. This allows for large scale production of scaffolds to accommodate the large need for meniscus reconstruction and replacement. In terms of cost, availability, and functionality, a xenograft derived scaffold would be the best direction for researchers to develop as the main treatment for a total meniscus replacement.

### Conclusion

There is a great need for the development of a reliable and effective total meniscus replacement. This is due to the great number of knee related surgeries performed each year and the high prevalence of OA in the population. While meniscus repair surgeries have proven effected in repairing the tissue, only minor tears can be repaired and further complications develop that eventually lead to a heightened development of OA and joint instability. Total meniscus replacement can be a viable option that replaces not only severely damaged tissue but also previously repaired

28



www.manaraa.com

meniscus tissue before the onset of OA. A xenograft tissue based meniscus scaffold is the most promising avenue for total replacement because the collagenous framework is already in the natural orientation allowing for proper cellular differentiation and morphology. Proper differentiation and morphology allow the tissue to readily resume the biochemical functions of the natural tissue. The natural orientation is also beneficial in maintaining the natural mechanical properties of the tissue within the joint. Supplemented with collagen crosslinking, the xenograft tissue based scaffold would be more than be stable enough to allow for tissue regeneration of the host while maintaining joint functionality. Further development of the decellularization process and antigen removal would relieve the immunogenic stress normally placed on a xenograft and would cement its place as the best treatment option for a total meniscus replacement.



# References

- Makris EA, Hadidi P, Athanasiou KA. The knee meniscus: structure-function, pathophysiology, current repair techniques, and prospects for regeneration. Biomaterials. 2011 Oct; 32(30):7411-31. [PubMed: 21764438]
- McDermott ID, Sharifi F, Bull AM, Gupte CM, Thomas RW, Amis AA. An anatomical study of meniscal allograft sizing. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2004; 12:130–5. [PubMed: 12756521]
- Shaffer B, Kennedy S, Klimkiewicz J, Yao L. Preoperative sizing of meniscal allografts in meniscus transplantation. Am J Sports Med. 2000; 28:524–33. [PubMed: 10921644]
- Greis PE, Bardana DD, Holmstrom MC, Burks RT. Meniscal injury: I. Basic science and evaluation. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2002; 10:168–76. [PubMed: 12041938]
- Clark CR, Ogden JA. Development of the menisci of the human knee joint. Morphological changes and their potential role in childhood meniscal injury. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 1983; 65:538–47. [PubMed: 6833331]
- 6) Netravali NA.(2011) Meniscal damage, partial medial meniscectomy, and the development of osteoarthritis (Doctoral Dissertation) Retrieved from http://purl.stanford.edu/rr943bf5062
- Rath E., Richmond JC. The menisci: basic science and advances in treatment. Br J Sports Med. 2000 Aug;34(4):252-7. [Pubmed: 10953895]
- Herwig J, Egner E, Buddecke E. Chemical changes of human knee joint menisci in various stages of degeneration. Ann Rheum Dis. 1984; 43:635–40. [PubMed: 6548109]
- Proctor CS, Schmidt MB, Whipple RR, Kelly MA, Mow VC. Material properties of the normal medial bovine meniscus. J Orthop Res. 1989; 7:771–82. [PubMed: 2677284]
- 10) Cheung HS. Distribution of type I, II, III and V in the pepsin solubilized collagens in bovine menisci. Connect Tissue Res. 1987; 16:343–56. [PubMed: 3132349]
- 11) Scott PG, Nakano T, Dodd CM. Isolation and characterization of small proteoglycans from different zones of the porcine knee meniscus. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1997; 1336:254–62. [PubMed: 9305797]



- 12) Tienen TG, Buma P, Scholten JGF, van Kampen A, Veth RPH, Verdonschot N.Displacement of the medial meniscus within the passive motion characteristics of the human knee joint: an RSA study in human cadaver knees. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2005 May;13(4):287-92. [PubMed: 15309283]
- 13) Setton LA, Guilak F, Hsu E, Vail TP. Biomechanical factors in tissue engineered meniscal repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1999 Oct;(367 Suppl):S254-72. [PubMed: 10546651]
- 14) Rodkey WG, Steadman JR, Li ST. A clinical study of collagen meniscus implants to restore the injured meniscus. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1999 Oct;(367 Suppl):S281-92. [PubMed: 10546653]
- 15) Mcdevitt CAMS, Kambic H, Parker R. Emerging concepts of the cell biology of the meniscus. Curr Opin Orthop. 2002; 13:345–50.
- 16) Melrose J, Smith S, Cake M, Read R, Whitelock J. Comparative spatial and temporal localization of perlecan, aggrecan and type I, II and IV collagen in the ovine meniscus: an ageing study. Histochem Cell Biol. 2005; 124:225–35. [PubMed: 16028067]
- 17) Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. Microvasculature of the human meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 1982 Mar-Apr;10(2):90-5. [PubMed: 7081532]
- 18) Turman KA, Diduch DR, Miller MD. All-inside meniscal repair. Sports Health. 2009 Sep;1(5):438-44. [PubMed: 23015905]
- 19) Sweigart MA, Athanasiou KA. Toward tissue engineering of the knee meniscus. Tissue Eng. 2001; 7:111–29. [PubMed: 11304448]
- 20) Zhu W, Chern KY, Mow VC. Anisotropic viscoelastic shear properties of bovine meniscus. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1994; 306:34–45. [PubMed: 8070209]
- 21) Walker PS, Erkman MJ. The role of the menisci in force transmission across the knee. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1975; 109:184–92. [PubMed: 1173360]
- 22) Fithian DC, Kelly MA, Mow VC. Material properties and structure-function relationships in the menisci. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1990; 252:19–31. [PubMed: 2406069]
- 23) Sweigart MA, Zhu CF, Burt DM, DeHoll PD, Agrawal CM, Clanton TO, et al. Intraspecies and interspecies comparison of the compressive properties of the medial meniscus. Ann Biomed Eng.2004; 32:1569–79. [PubMed: 15636116]



- 24) Noyes FR, Barber-Westin SD. Repair of complex and avascular meniscal tears and meniscal transplantation. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 2010; 92:1012–29. [PubMed: 21553789]
- 25) Heckmann TP, Barber-Westin SD, Noyes FR. Meniscal repair and transplantation: indications, techniques, rehabilitation, and clinical outcome. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2006 Oct;36(10):795-814. [PubMed: 17063840]
- 26) Morgan CD, Wojtys EM, Casscells CD, Casscells SW. Arthroscopic meniscal repair evaluated by second-look arthroscopy. Am J Sports Med. 1991; 19:632–7. [PubMed: 1781503]
- 27) Salata MJ, Gibbs AE, Sekiya JK. A systematic review of clinical outcomes in patients undergoing meniscectomy. Am J Sports Med. 2010; 38:1907–16. [PubMed: 20587698]
- 28) Verdonk P, Beaufils P, Bellemans J, et al. Successful treatment of painful irreparable partial meniscal defects with a polyurethane scaffold: two-year safety and clinical outcomes. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40:844-853. [PubMed: 22328711]
- 29) Bhattacharya T, Gale D, Dewire P, Totterman S, Gale ME, McLaughlin S,Einhorn TA, Felson DT. The clinical importance of meniscal tears demonstrated by magnetic resonance imaging in osteoarthritis of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2003 Jan;85-A(1):4-9. [PubMed: 12533565]
- 30) Chen D, Shen J, Zhao W, Wang T, Han L, Hamilton JL, Im HJ. Osteoarthritis: toward a comprehensive understanding of pathological mechanism. Bone Res. 2017 Jan 17;5:16044. [PubMed: 28149655]
- 31) Loeser RF, Goldring SR, Scanzello CR et al. Osteoarthritis: a disease of the joint as an organ. Arthritis Rheum 2012; 64: 1697–1707. [PubMed: 22392533]
- 32) Rao AJ, Erickson BJ, Cvetanovich GL, Yanke AB, Bach BR Jr, Cole BJ. The Meniscus-Deficient Knee: Biomechanics, Evaluation, and Treatment Options. Orthop J Sports Med. 2015 Oct 23;3(10):2325967115611386. [PubMed: 26779547]
- 33) Smith MV, Nepple JJ, Wright RW, Matava MJ, Brophy RH. Knee Osteoarthritis Is Associated With Previous Meniscus and Anterior Cruciate Ligament Surgery Among Elite College American Football Athletes. Sports Health. 2016 Dec 9. [PubMed: 27940573]
- 34) Goldring MB, Goldring SR. Osteoarthritis. J Cell Physiol 2007; 213:626–634. [PubMed: 17786965]



- 35) Park KK, Choi CH, Ha CW, Lee MC. The Effects of Adherence to Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs and Factors Influencing Drug Adherence in Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis. J Korean Med Sci. 2016 May;31(5):795-800. [PubMed: 27134504]
- 36) Lapane KL, Liu SH, Dubé CE, Driban JB, McAlindon TE, Eaton CB. Factors Associated with the Use of Hyaluronic Acid and Corticosteroid Injections among Patients with Radiographically Confirmed Knee Osteoarthritis: A Retrospective Data Analysis. Clin Ther. 2017 Jan 27. pii: S0149-2918(17)30039-5. [PubMed: 28139290]
- 37) Vertullo CJ, Lewis PL, Graves S, Kelly L, Lorimer M, Myers P. Twelve-Year Outcomes of an Oxinium Total Knee Replacement Compared with the Same Cobalt-Chromium Design: An Analysis of 17,577 Prostheses from the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2017 Feb 15;99(4):275-283. [PubMed: 28196029]
- 38) Civinini R, Carulli C, Matassi F, Lepri AC, Sirleo L, Innocenti M. The Survival of Total Knee Arthroplasty: Current Data from Registries on Tribology: Review Article. HSS J. 2017 Feb;13(1):28-31. [PubMed: 28167870]
- 39) Cooper DE, Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. Arthroscopic meniscal repair. Clin Sports Med. 1990 Jul;9(3):589-607. [PubMed: 2199071]
- 40) DeHaven KE. Meniscus repair. Am J Sports Med. 1999 Mar-Apr;27(2):242-50. [PubMed: 10102109]
- 41) Elkousy HA, Sekiya JK, Harner CD. Broadening the indications for meniscal repair. Sports Med Arthrosc. 2002;10(4):270-275. Available from, DOI: 10.1097/00132585-200210040-00006
- 42) Nelson CG, Bonner KF. Inside-out Meniscus Repair. Arthrosc Tech. 2013 Nov 1;2(4):e453-60. [PubMed: 24400199]
- 43) Boyd KT, Myers PT. Meniscus preservation; rational, repair techniques and results. Knee. 2003 Mar;10(1):1-11. [PubMed: 12649021]
- 44) Rankin CC, Lintner DM, Noble PC, Parvic V, Greer E. A biomechanical analysis of meniscal repair techniques. Am J Sports Med. 2002 Jul-Aug;30(4):492-7.
  [PubMed: 12130403]
- 45) Roos EM, Roos HP, Ryd L, Lohmander LS. Substantial disability 3 months after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: a prospective study of patient relevant outcomes. Arthroscopy. 2000 Sep;16(6):619-26. [PubMed: 10976123]



- 46) Bin SI, Kim JM, Shin SJ. Radial tears of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus. Arthroscopy. 2004 Apr;20(4):373-8. [Pubmed: 15067276]
- 47) Lin DD, Picardo NE, Adesida A, Khan WS. Clinical Studies Using Biological and Synthetic Materials for Meniscus Replacement. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther. 2016 Apr 29. [PubMed: 27133081]
- 48) Vaquero J, Forriol F. Meniscus tear surgery and meniscus replacement. Muscles Ligaments Tendons J. 2016 May 19;6(1):71-89. [PubMed: 27331034]
- 49) Verdonk P, et al. Successful treatment of painful irreparable partial meniscal defects with a polyurethane scaffold: two-year safety and clinical outcomes. Am J Sports Med. 2012 Apr;40(4):844-53. [Pubmed: 22328711]
- 50) Bouyarmane H, Beaufils P, Pujol N, et al. Polyurethane scaffold in lateral meniscus segmental defects: clinical outcomes at 24 months follow-up. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2013;100:153-157. [PubMed: 24332925]
- 51) Kon E, Filardo G, Zaffagnini S, et al. Biodegradable polyurethane meniscal scaffold for isolated partial lesions or as combined procedure for knees with multiple comorbidities: clinical results at 2 years. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2014;22:128-134. [PubMed: 23223879]
- 52) Bin SI, Nha KW, Cheong JY, Shin YS. Midterm and long-term results of medial versus lateral meniscal allograft transplantation: a meta-analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2017 Jun 1:363546517709777. [PubMed: 28609637]
- 53) Sommaggio R, Uribe-Herranz M, Marquina M, Costa C. Xenotransplantation of pig chondrocytes: therapeutic potential and barriers for cartilage repair. Eur Cell Mater. 2016 Jul 5;32:24-39. [PubMed: 27377665]
- 54) Tanaka T, Fujii K, Kumagae Y. Comparison of biochemical characteristics of cultured fibrochondrocytes isolated from the inner and outer regions of human meniscus. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 1999; 7:75–80. [PubMed: 10223527]
- 55) Collier S, Ghosh P. Effects of transforming growth factor beta on proteoglycan synthesis by cell and explant cultures derived from the knee joint meniscus. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 1995; 3:127–38. [PubMed: 7584318]
- 56) Smith B, Sigal IR, Grande DA. Immunology and cartilage regeneration. Immunol Res. 2015 Dec;63(1-3):181-6. [PubMed: 26481914]



- 57) Gunja NJ, Athanasiou KA. Passage and reversal effects on gene expression of bovine meniscal fibrochondrocytes. Arthritis Res Ther. 2007; 9:R93. [PubMed: 17854486]
- 58) Darling EM, Athanasiou KA. Rapid phenotypic changes in passaged articular chondrocyte subpopulations. J Orthop Res. 2005; 23:425–32. [PubMed: 15734258]
- 59) Tallheden T, et al. Proliferation and differentiation potential of chondrocytes from osteoarthritic patients. Arthritis Res Ther. 2005;7(3):R560-8. Epub 2005 Mar 3. [PubMed: 15899043]
- 60) Weinand C, Peretti GM, Adams SB Jr, Bonassar LJ, Randolph MA, Gill TJ. An allogenic cell-based implant for meniscal lesions. Am J Sports Med. 2006 Nov;34(11):1779-89. Epub 2006 Jul 26. [PubMed: 16870819]
- 61) Romaniuk A, Malejczyk J, Kubicka U, Hyc A, Olszewski WL, Moskalewski S. Rejection of cartilage formed by transplanted allogeneic chondrocytes: evaluation with monoclonal antibodies. Transpl Immunol. 1995 Sep;3(3):251-7. [PubMed: 8581414]
- 62) Berta Á, Duska Z, Tóth F, Hangody L. Clinical experiences with cartilage repair techniques: outcomes, indications, contraindications and rehabilitation. Eklem Hastalik Cerrahisi. 2015;26(2):84-96. [PubMed: 26165712]
- 63) McGregor CG, Ricci D, Miyagi N, Stalboerger PG, Du Z, Oehler EA, Tazelaar HD, Byrne GW. Human CD55 expression blocks hyperacute rejection and restricts complement activation in Gal knockout cardiac xenografts. Transplantation. 2012 Apr 15;93(7):686-92. [PubMed: 22391577]
- 64) Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol. 2007; 213:341–7. [PubMed: 17620285]
- 65) Madeira C, Santhagunam A, Salgueiro JB, Cabral JM. Advanced cell therapies for articular cartilage regeneration. Trends Biotechnol. 2015 Jan;33(1):35-42. [PubMed: 25466849]
- 66) Zhao, S.M. et al. Immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells and their therapeutic consequences for immune-mediated disorders. Stem Cells Dev. 19, 607–614. [PubMed: 19824807]
- 67) Whitehouse MR, et al. Repair of Torn Avascular Meniscal Cartilage Using Undifferentiated Autologous Mesenchymal Stem Cells: From In Vitro Optimization to a First-in-Human Study. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2016 Dec 15. [PubMed: 28186682]



- 68) Chung JY, Song M, Ha CW, Kim JA, Lee CH, Park YB. Comparison of articular cartilage repair with different hydrogel-human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cell composites in a rat model. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2014 Mar 19;5(2):39. [PubMed: 24646697]
- 69) Faivre B, Bouyarmane H, Lonjon G, Boisrenoult P, Pujol N, Beaufils P. Actifit® scaffold implantation: Influence of preoperative meniscal extrusion on morphological and clinical outcomes. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2015 Oct;101(6):703-8. [PubMed: 26363889]
- 70) Verdonk P, et al. Successful Treatment of Painful Irreparable Partial Meniscal Defects With a Polyurethane Scaffold. Am J Sports Med. 2012 Apr;40(4):844-53. [PubMed: 22328711]
- 71) Heo J, Koh RH, Shim W, Kim HD, Yim HG, Hwang NS. Riboflavin-induced photo-crosslinking of collagen hydrogel and its application in meniscus tissue engineering. Drug Deliv Transl Res. 2016 Apr;6(2):148-58. [PubMed: 25809935]
- 72) Tuleuova N, Lee JY, Lee J, Ramanculov E, Zern MA, Revzin A. Using growth factor arrays and micropatterned co-cultures to induce hepatic differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Biomaterials. 2010; 31:9221–31. [PubMed: 20832855]
- 73) Mueller SM, Shortkroff S, Schneider TO, Breinan HA, Yannas IV, Spector M. Meniscus cells seeded in type I and type II collagen-GAG matrices in vitro. Biomaterials. 1999;20:701–9. [PubMed: 10353653]
- 74) Gruber HE, Mauerhan D, Chow Y, Ingram JA, Norton HJ, Hanley EN, et al. Three-dimensional culture of human meniscal cells: extracellular matrix and proteoglycan production. BMC Biotechnol. 2008;8:54. [PubMed: 18582376]
- 75) Koh RH, Jin Y, Kang BJ, Hwang NS. Chondrogenically primed tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells encapsulated in riboflavin-induced photocrosslinking collagen-hyaluronic acid hydrogel for meniscus tissue repairs. Acta Biomater. 2017 Feb 1. [PubMed: 28161573]
- 76) Wu J, Ding Q, Dutta A, Wang Y, Huang YH, Weng H, Tang L, Hong Y. An injectable extracellular matrix derived hydrogel for meniscus repair and regeneration. Acta Biomater. 2015 Apr;16:49-59. [PubMed: 25644450]
- 77) Elder S, Pinheiro A, Young C, Smith P, Wright E. Evaluation of genipin for stabilization of decellularized porcine cartilage. J Orthop Res. 2016 Nov 18. [PubMed: 27859554]
- 78) Chu C, Deng J, Xiang L, Wu Y, Wei X, Qu Y, Man Y. Evaluation of epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) cross-linked collagen membranes and



concerns on osteoblasts. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl. 2016 Oct 1;67:386-94. [PubMed: 27287135]

- 79) Shin H, Nichol JW, Khademhosseini A. Cell-adhesive and mechanically tunable glucose-based biodegradable hydrogels. Acta Biomater. 2011 Jan;7(1):106-14. [PubMed: 20647064]
- 80) Yu H, Adesida AB, Jomha NM. Meniscus repair using mesenchymal stem cells a comprehensive review. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2015 Apr 30;6:86. [PubMed: 25925426]
- 81) Bulgheroni P, Murena L, Ratti C, Bulgheroni E, Ronga M, Cherubino P. Followup of collagen meniscus implant patients: clinical, radiological, and magnetic resonance imaging results at 5 years. Knee 2010;17:224–9. [PubMed: 19800801]
- 82) Zaffagnini S, Giordano G, Vascellari A, Bruni D, Neri MP, Lacono F, et al. Arthroscopic collagen meniscus implant results at 6 to 8 years follow-up. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2007;15:175–83. [PubMed: 16845545]
- 83) Monllau JC, Gelber PE, Abat F, Pelfort X, Abad R, Hinarejos P, et al. Outcome after partial medial meniscus substitution with the collagen meniscal implant at a minimum of 10 years' follow-up. Arthroscopy 2011;27:933–43. [PubMed: 21621373]
- 84) Rodkey WG, DeHaven KE, Montgomery WH, Baker Jr CL, Beck CL, Hormel SE, et al. Comparison of the collagen meniscus implant with partial meniscectomy: a prospective randomized trial. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2008;90:1413–26. [PubMed: 18594088]
- 85) Peters G, Wirth CJ. The current state of meniscal allograft transplantation and replacement. Knee 2003;10:19–31. [PubMed: 12649023]
- 86) Monibi FA, Cook JL. Tissue-Derived Extracellular Matrix Bioscaffolds: Emerging Applications in Cartilage and Meniscus Repair. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2017 Feb 7. [PubMed: 28169595]
- 87) Stabile KJ, Odom D, Smith TL, Northam C, Whitlock PW, Smith BP, Van Dyke ME, Ferguson CM. An acellular, allograft-derived meniscus scaffold in an ovine model. Arthroscopy. 2010 Jul;26(7):936-48. [PubMed: 20620793]
- 88) Lakes EH, Matuska AM, McFetridge PS, Allen KD. Mechanical Integrity of a Decellularized and Laser Drilled Medial Meniscus. J Biomech Eng. 2016 Mar;138(3):4032381. [PubMed: 26720513]



- 89) Samitier G, Alentorn-Geli E, Taylor DC, Rill B, Lock T, Moutzouros V, Kolowich P. Meniscal Allograft Transplantation. Part 2: Systematic Review of Transplant Timing, Outcomes, Return to Competition, Associated Procedures, and Prevention of Osteoarthritis. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015 Jan;23(1):323-33. [PubMed: 25266230]
- 90) Proffen BL, McElfresh M, Fleming BC, Murray MM.
  A comparative anatomical study of the human knee and six animal species.
  Knee. 2012 Aug;19(4):493-9. [PubMed: 21852139]
- 91) Dong S, Huangfu X, Xie G, Zhang Y, Shen P, Li X, Qi J, Zhao J. Decellularized Versus Fresh/Frozen Allografts in Anterior Cruciate Ligament Rec onstruction: An In Vitro Study in a Rabbit Model. Am J Sports Med. 2015 Aug;43(8):1924-34. [PubMed: 26037623]
- 92) McHenry JA.(2005) Nitric oxide production of meniscal explants following dynamic compression (Thesis) Retrieved from http://www.sensorprod.com/research-articles/white-papers/2005\_nop/wp\_nop-2005.pdf



### CHAPTER II

### RESEARCH

### Introduction

The previous chapter established that a xenograft tissue based meniscus scaffold, coupled with a partial or full meniscectomy, is the most promising solution for damaged meniscus repair. The purpose of this research was to provide a proof of concept that a viable decellularized meniscus xenograft scaffold implant can be produced to fill this demand. The first challenge of developing a xenograft meniscus scaffold implant was first and foremost, antigen removal. Removing antigens, which would cause a host immune response and transplant rejection, is paramount to the success of the concept. Secondly, because a meniscus provides such a crucial role in locomotion, acting as the shock absorber and friction reducer in the knee, the biomechanical properties of the tissue are also critical to the overall functionality of the transplant. The design of this proof of concept was comprised of three experiments; the first experiment is to develop an antigen removal protocol, and the last two experiments explore the understanding and manipulation of the biomechanical properties of the tissue.

The goal of the first, and most important experiment, was the development of an optimal antigen removal protocol. Current research has shown that antigen removal within thick connective tissue, like meniscus, to acceptable levels of immunotolerance is possible.<sup>1</sup> However, these published protocols are time consuming, expensive, and/or



damaging to the structural properties of the tissue, making these current protocols not conducive to expanding the research on xenograft meniscus transplants. This study proposed modifying a less invasive antigen removal protocol that uses SDS for antigen removal, originally designed and proven effective for articular cartilage,<sup>2</sup> to create a faster and more cost-efficient method to create a decellularized scaffold. These less harsh conditions will, in theory, maintain the structural integrity of the graft, while also reducing production time and cost.

The second experiment investigated the biochemical and biomechanical differences between the native meniscus tissue and the decellularized meniscus scaffold. This experiment was vital because any antigen removal protocol has some effect on the biochemical and biomechanical properties of the tissue. First, a more in depth study on the effectiveness of the antigen removal protocol was conducted to include DNA and GAG removal. GAG performs a critical role in shock absorbance through water retention in the native tissue, and although it would be beneficial to maintain, it is mildly immunogenic and is almost impossible to retain during efficient antigen removal. However, one benefit of GAG removal is that it increases porosity in the scaffold that will ease cellular migration into the scaffold. Collagen content was also assessed to determine if the antigen removal protocol was also removing collagen from the tissue. If collagen was being removed, it would indicate that the structural integrity of the tissue was being compromised by the antigen removal. Compression and tensile testing was performed on both the fresh native tissue and the decellularized scaffold to determine if the decellularized tissue would be able to withstand normal loading associated with weight bearing and gait. Comparing the mechanical properties of the two tissues will



help determine if the tissue would be too rigid and inflexible such that it would damage the femoral articular cartilage or overall knee functionality. Comparing the biochemical and biomechanical analyses of the two tissues will give a greater understanding of the antigen removal process and serve as a spring board for further research.

The third experiment was designed to investigate the feasibility of further treating the tissue via collagen crosslinking. Crosslinking the tissue could be an important aspect of the development of the xenograft as a whole because it inhibits rapid enzymatic degradation of the scaffold. In terms of biomechanics, crosslinking would also be expected to restore some of the compressive resistance lost as a result of the GAG removal. Crosslinking may also increase tensile stiffness, which might be an undesirable side effect if antigen removal alone increases the tensile modulus. By being able to consciously adapt the biomechanical properties of the xenograft, the transplant can be engineered to match the specifications of the native host tissue. The goal of this experiment was to determine the effect of various chemical crosslinkers, genipin and EGCG, and their concentrations on the xenograft meniscus. Genipin and EGCG were chosen for this experiment due to their low cytotoxicity and their proven collagen crosslinking ability in literature.<sup>2,3</sup> Additionally, due to the fact that menisci are large and dense pieces of connective tissue, and previous research on crosslinking similar tissues, such as tendons and ligaments, has shown thorough crosslinking of these tissues to be difficult,<sup>4</sup> two pre-crosslinking treatment protocols were designed to increase the permeability of the crosslinkers into the meniscus tissue. The two pre-crosslinking treatment protocols developed for this experiment are freeze drying the tissue before crosslinking and soaking the tissue in a super saturated saline solution, then freeze drying



the tissue before crosslinking. Both pre-crosslinking treatment protocols utilize osmotic gradients to attempt to increase permeability of the aqueous crosslinkers to the inner most portions of the meniscus.

The goal of this study is that the data collected from the three experiments will build a strong foundation of fundamental knowledge about the development and biomechanical behaviors of a decellularized xenograft meniscus scaffold. It is hypothesized that an effective and more efficient antigen removal protocol can be developed to create a xenograft meniscus replacement that is comparable to current protocols, and that the decellularized scaffold created from that protocol can bioengineered to mimic native tissue in its mechanical properties.

#### **Experimental Methods**

### **Experiment 1: Antigen Removal Protocol**

The original antigen removal protocol, Protocol 1 (P1), was adapted from the antigen removal procedure used for osteochondral bone plugs fused with articular cartilage taken from the articular surfaces of the tibia and femur inside the knee joint.<sup>2</sup> Articular cartilage is much thinner than meniscus tissue, so the original protocol was modified to penetrate the thicker tissue. The sequential protocols, Protocol 2 (P2) and Protocol 3 (P3), made adjustments to soaking times and additional antigen removal steps were added or removed to optimize the procedure. To assess antigen removal, DNA content was measured in 39 total samples from 13 different menisci for P1, P2, and the FTC each, and 24 total samples from 8 menisci for P3 and SP each.



#### Stabile Protocol

The Stabile Protocol (SP) is a well-established protocol that was used to compare the protocol developed in this research. Eight menisci were placed in distilled DNase/RNase-free water in a shaker at 200rpm at 37°C for 48 hours to lyse the cells. Then the menisci were treated with a 0.05% trypsin-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid on the shaker for 24 hours. The menisci were then treated with Dulbucco's modified Eagle's medium with high glucose, 10% fetal bovine serum, and 1% antibioticantimycotic solution for 24 hours to neutralize the trypsin. The menisci were then treated with a 2% aqueous Triton X-100 and 1.5% peracetic acid solution for 48 hours. The meniscus were then washed in dH<sub>2</sub>O once for an hour and then for 72 hours, changing the water every 24 hours. Finally, the menisci were washed in PBS for 24 hours.

#### **Protocol 1**

Thirteen menisci were cleaned after extraction in PBS twice for one hour, then in 10% hydrogen peroxide for one hour, and finally in dH<sub>2</sub>0 for an hour. The menisci were then treated with a 2.0% SDS, 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 1mM PMSF, 5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 mg/ml DNase I, 0.05mg/ml RNase, 1% antibiotic-antimycotic solution for 48 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. The menisci were then washed in 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6) for 90 minutes and then twice in dH<sub>2</sub>O for 30 minutes. All treatments were performed in a shaker at 37°C.

#### **Protocol 2**

The second protocol adaptation was designed to maximize the decellularization potential by including several different antigen removal steps. The protocol further



43

www.manaraa.com

increased treatment times in certain solutions, added EtOH and hyaluronidase treatments, and the menisci were sonicated for 10 minutes after each step of the protocol. Thirteen menisci were cleaned after extraction twice in PBS for one hour, a 10% hydrogen peroxide solution for 8 hours, and then degreased in EtOH for three hours. The menisci were treated with a 0.2% hyaluronidase, 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6) solution for 48 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. The menisci were then treated with a 2.0% SDS, 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 1% antibiotic-antimycotic solution for 72 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. The menisci were then treated with a 2.0% SDS, 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 1% antibiotic-antimycotic solution for 72 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. The menisci were then treated in a 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 1mM PMSF, 5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5mg/ml DNase I, 0.05mg/ml RNase, 1% antibiotic-antimycotic solution for 48 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. Finally the menisci were washed in dH<sub>2</sub>O twice for 30 minutes. All treatments were performed in a shaker at 37°C.

#### **Protocol 3**

The third and final protocol was designed to use a hypotonic osmotic gradient to induce cell lysis in addition to the SDS detergent. Eight menisci were cleaned after extraction twice in PBS for one hour, then in 10% hydrogen peroxide for 8 hours, and finally twice in dH<sub>2</sub>0 for one hour. The cells were lysed in dH<sub>2</sub>0 for 48 hours, changing solution every 24 hours. Then the menisci were treated in a 2.0% SDS, 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 1mM PMSF, 5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5mg/ml DNase I, 0.05mg/ml RNase, 1% antibiotic-antimycotic solution for 48 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. The menisci were treated in a 4 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. The menisci were treated hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. The menisci were then washed in dH20 twice for one hour and then overnight in a large volume of dH20 for 8 hours. All treatments were performed in a shaker at 37°C.



This protocol was found to be superior to all of the previous protocols and was used for all subsequent tests for the decellularized xenografts.

### **Experiment 2: Biochemical and Biomechanical Analysis of Protocol 3**

A vertical cross section was taken from a random meniscus from both the FTC and P3 test groups and was plated onto a slide. The slide was stained with Safranin-O and was analyzed using light microscopy. Biochemical analysis was performed to quantify antigen removal with DNA content and GAG content, and to ensure that collagen was not being removed during the antigen removal protocol. Removal of collagen would indicate a loss of structural integrity and function. Biochemical analysis was performed on 12 total samples from the body of 6 FTC menisci and 12 total samples from 6 menisci treated with P3.

### **Papain Digestion**

Meniscus samples had to be digested in papain in order to perform the biochemical analysis of DNA content, GAG content, and collagen content. The same samples of papain digested menisci were used to complete all three biochemical analysis tests. The papain digestion buffer is a 10mM cysteine solution in PBE buffer with 50µL of papain. Samples are digested in papain solution overnight at 60°C in a water bath and then spun at 10,000rpm for 3 minutes. The supernatant was then be used for various biochemical analysis.



### **Biochemical Analysis**

DNA content, GAG content, and collagen content analyses were performed on the papain digested samples as previously described, with minor modifications to accommodate the larger sample sizes.<sup>2</sup>

### **Compression Testing**

A stress-relaxation compression test was performed to determine the change in biomechanical properties of the decellularized samples compared to the control meniscus samples, with regards to compressive forces. The compression testing was performed using a Mach 1 machine. A total of 24 samples collected from both 4 FTC menisci and 4 P3 menisci using a deli slicer to take even horizontal cross sections of approximately 3mm thickness, and then a 4mm biopsy punch was used to punch out round disks from the cross sections.

The test was performed with the sample being submerged in a bath of PBS between smooth impermeable plates. The thickness of each disk was determined by applying an initial load of 10 gf and measuring the distance between compression plate and the base of the bath. A 5% ramp strain was calculated from the thickness of each sample. Five compressions were applied to the sample, each increasing by the 5% strain, from 5%-25%, allowing the tissue to relax in between ramps until the slope of the values, measured at 15 second intervals, was less than 0.2500 gf/min.







The peak stress modulus, also referred to as the instantaneous modulus, and equilibrium stress moduli were calculated by plotting the 5 peak stress points, depicted in Figure 2.1 in red, and 5 equilibrium stress points, depicted in Figure 2.1 in green, against strain and determining the slopes of the respective stress vs strain plots.



Figure 2.2 Stress vs strain graph to calculate the instantaneous and equilibrium moduli from compression data.



### Tensile Testing

A tensile test was performed to determine the change in tensile properties of the decellularized samples compared to the control meniscus sample. Tensile testing was performed using an MTI-2K machine. Samples were collected from both control and decellularized meniscus using a deli slicer to take even horizontal cross sections, then a custom designed and built stamp was used to punch out dumbbell shaped sections of the tissue. The dimensions of the stamp are 9mm wide at the ends, 3mm wide in the middle section, with a gauge length of 18mm. The overall length of the sample was determined by the size of the meniscus, and it varied for each sample. Three thickness measurements were taken were taken at various points of the middle gauge length with digital calipers to calculate an average thickness for the sample.



Figure 2.3 The custom made tissue punch and the resulting dumbbell shaped tissue removed from the original meniscus tissue.

The dumbbell shaped tissue's was secured at both ends into a set of clamps attached to a 200N load cell and the MTI-2K machine. A 5N preload was applied to the tissue to remove any slack in the tissue before testing. The sample was pulled at 5



mm/min until failure. Only samples where the failure occurred in the middle portion of the tissue were kept, any failure resulting from the grips was discarded.



Figure 2.4 Tensile Testing Setup: The sample was clamped in place at both ends on the MTI-2K machine (left). An excepted test with structural failure occurring in the middle portion of the tissue sample (right).

Strain was calculated by dividing displacement by the gauge length of the tissue

sample. Stress was calculated by dividing load by the average thickness of the tissue sample. Stress vs strain was plotted and the modulus of elasticity, which was defined for this experiment to be the maximum slope in the elastic region of the graph, was

determined.



Figure 2.5 Stress vs Strain Graph: The stiffness modulus was defined as the maximum slope of the elastic region.



The ultimate tensile stress, strain at failure, and energy absorbed until failure were also determined and/or calculated from their corresponding points on the graph.

### **Experiment 3: Crosslinking Assessment and Permeability**

Decellularized menisci were treated with two different nontoxic crosslinkers, genipin and epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG). Three concentrations of genipin were tested to produce a wide range in the degree of crosslinking, based on previous research on articular cartilage,<sup>2</sup> 0.2%, 0.04%, and 0.008%, and one concentration, 1%, of EGCG was tested. Eleven menisci were randomly assigned to the 5 different treatment methods, with two menisci for each of the four crosslinking treatments and 3 mensici assigned as the fresh tissue controls. The menisci were treated with the appropriate solutions for 72 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. Samples were then taken from each menisci to determine the permeability of the various crosslinkers and concentrations. Vertical cross sections were taken from each sample and a 4.0mm biopsy punch was used to punch out the centermost portion of the cross section.





Figure 2.6 Vertical cross section of a meniscus with the inner portion removed. Both portions are assed for percent crosslinking to determine permeability.

The difference in crosslinking percentage between the outer portion and inner portion was then calculated to determine the permeability of the crosslinker used.

### **Crosslinking Assessment**

The percentage of crosslinking in a sample was determined using a Ninhydrin Assay, which indicates the amount of free amino groups. Two solutions were prepared, the first solution was created by adding 1.05g citric acid, 10mL (1.0M) aqueous NaOH, and 0.04g SnCl<sub>2</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>0 and then adding dH<sub>2</sub>O until 25mL. The second solution was created by adding 1g ninhydrin to 25mL of 2-methoxyethanol. The two solutions were blended and stirred for 45 minutes to complete the ninhyrdin solution.

Test samples were freeze-dryed for 24 hours and weighed to determine their dry weigh. The sample was then placed in a tube with 3mL of ninhydrin solution in a 100°C water bath for activation four minutes, a time that was determined using a positive control sample as a reference. The tubes were cooled in a cool water bath and then were



read with a microplate spectrophometer at 570nm. The degree of crosslinking was calculated as previous described in previous research.<sup>3</sup>

### Crosslinking Permeability

Two adaptations to the administration of the crosslinking treatment were tested to attempt to increase permeability. Three groups of 10 decellularized menisci were subject to different pretreatment conditions before all of the groups were individually treated with a 0.04% genipin solution for 72 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours. The first group of decellularized menisci was freeze-dried for 24 hours in a vacuum prior to the crosslinking treatment. The second group of decellularized menisci was treated in a super saturated 28.1% NaCl solution for 72 hours, changing the solution every 24 hours, and then freeze-dried for 24 hours in a vacuum prior to crosslinking. The control group of decellularized menisci was only treated with the crosslinking treatment. Samples were then taken from each meniscus in each group to determine if there was a difference in permeability due to the different pre-crosslinking treatments. Vertical cross sections were taken from each sample and a 4mm biopsy punch was used to punch out the centermost portion of the cross section. Differences in crosslinking percentages between the outer and inner portions were calculated and assessed.

#### Results

### **Experiment 1: Antigen Removal Protocol**

The average DNA content for the FTC, P1, P2, P3, and SP, in ng DNA/mg, were calculated to be  $26.62 \pm 12.91$ ,  $30.57 \pm 9.70$ ,  $28.83 \pm 7.42$ ,  $18.05 \pm 4.61$ , and  $17.53 \pm 9.31$ , respectfully, as can be seen in Table 2.2. Statistical analysis was performed using



SAS calculated the critical value of t to be 1.97509 with a least significant difference of 4.7773. P1 and P2 were not significantly different from FTC, and are therefore not an effective antigen removal protocol. P3 was found to have significantly lower average DNA content than FTC and was also not significantly different than SP.

Table 2.1DNA Content in ng DNA/mg of three antigen removal protocols (P1, P2,<br/>P3), a fresh tissue control (FTC), and the Stabile antigen removal protocol<br/>(SP).

	FTC	P1	P2	Р3	SP
Average DNA Content (ng DNA/mg)	26.62	30.57	28.83	18.05	17.53
Standard Deviation	12.91	9.70	7.42	4.61	9.31



Figure 2.7 DNA content in ng DNA/mg for the three antigen removal protocols (P1, P2, P3) a fresh tissue control (FTC) and the Stabile antigen removal protocol (SP).



T Tests (LSD) for DNA Content				
t Grouping	Mean	Ν	PROTOCOL	
А	30.574	37	P1	
А				
А	28.834	39	P2	
А				
А	26.625	39	FTC	
В	18.045	24	P3	
В				
В	17.525	24	SP	

# Table 2.2T-Tests (LSD) for DNA Content in ng DNA/mg from SAS Output.

# **Experiment 2: Biochemical and Biomechanical Analysis of Protocol 3**

# Microscopy

Under 20x magnification, the Safranin-O stained slide, clearly shows evidence of successful decellularization. As can be seen in Figure 2.8, at 20x magnification there is strong evidence that P3 is an effective decellularization protocol.





Figure 2.8 20x image of Safranin-O stained vertical cross section of FTC (left) and P3(right) meniscus. A) FTC femoral surface B) P3 femoral surface C) FTC midsection D) P3 midsection

The darkest staining regions of the FTC are the cell nuclei of fibrochondrocytes

habiting their lacunae in the tissue. The P3 meniscus clearly shows an overall absence of these dark staining areas and empty lacunae. The P3 meniscus also shows a significant reduction in the amount of GAG and ECM, the red staining portion of the FTC. This effect can be better seen in Figure 2.8, a 5x magnification mosaic image of the entire cross section created using ImageJ.





Figure 2.9 5x magnification compiled mosaic of the FTC (left) and P3 (right) menisci. A) FTC meniscus B) P3 meniscus

The outside portions of the menisci appear to be completely devoid of GAG and only a small residual amount is leftover in the inner portion. There is a stark difference in the overall amount of GAG in the P3 meniscus compared to the FTC meniscus, which provides evidence to the antigen removal effectiveness of P3.

### DNA Analysis

The average DNA content of the FTC was calculated to be 14.2926 ng DNA/mg and the P3 average DNA content was calculated to  $7.27355 \pm 0.47699$  ng DNA/mg. A two sample t-Test assuming unequal variances with a hypothesized mean difference of 0 at the significance level of  $\alpha = 0.05$  was performed on the data collected from the two groups. Menisci treated with P3 were found to have a significantly lower average DNA content than the FTC menisci with a p-value of 0.000225.





	FTC	P3
Mean DNA Content (ng DNA/mg)	14.2926	7.27355
Std. dev.	4.49934	0.47699
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.000225	

Figure 2.10 DNA Content Comparison between FTC and P3. Menisci treated using P3 have a significantly lower DNA Content (ng DNA/mg) than FTC.

### GAG Analysis

Menisci treated with P3 had 0.7787  $\mu$ g GAG/ mg of sample compared to the 0.199667  $\mu$ g GAG/mg of sample of the FTC menisci. A two sample t-Test assuming unequal variances with a hypothesized mean difference of 0, at the significance level of  $\alpha$ =0.05 was performed on the data collected from the two groups. The mean GAG content of menisci treated with P3 was significantly lower than the FTC, with a p-value of 0.001846. The data supports the significant difference seen in the Safranin-O slides of the FTC and P3.





<u>t-Test: Two-Sample Assuming Unequal</u> <u>Variances</u>				
	FTC	P3		
Mean	0.199667	0.07787		
Std. dev.	0.0982	0.0631		
P(T<=t) two- tail	0.001846			

Figure 2.11 GAG Content Analysis between FTC and P3.

# Collagen Content

The Safranin-O stained slide was viewed under cross polarization in order to see the orientation of the collagen bundles of the P3 meniscus. The collagen bundles in the P3 menisci, seen in both 5x and 20x magnification, are not disturbed by the treatment and maintain a tight bundle and natural orientation.





Figure 2.12 P3 meniscus cross section under cross polarization to show collagen bundle structure and orientation.

The average collagen content of the FTC menisci was calculated to be  $6.563657 \pm 1.779202 \ \mu g$  collagen/mg and the P3 menisci was  $6.268484 \pm 1.8728 \ \mu g$  collagen/mg. A two sample t-Test assuming unequal variances with a hypothesized mean difference of 0, at the significance level of  $\alpha$ =0.05 was performed on the data collected from the two groups.



Figure 2.13 Collagen Content Analysis between FTC and P3.

# **Compression Testing**

The instantaneous modulus for the FTC was calculated to be 2.5523 MPa and the equilibrium modulus was calculated to be 0.0529 MPa. The instantaneous modulus for



P3 menisci was calculated to be 0.8019 MPa and the equilibrium modulus was 0.1013 MPa. A two sample t-Test assuming unequal variances with a hypothesized mean difference of 0, at the significance level of  $\alpha = 0.05$  was performed for the instantaneous modulus and equilibrium modulus independently. The p-value for the instantaneous modulus, as seen in Table 2.4, was calculated to be 0.0013 and the p-value for the equilibrium modulus was 0.0036.

Mean Compression Moduli (MPa)				
	FTC	Р3		
Instantaneous Modulus	2.5523	0.8019		
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.0013			
Equilibrium Modulus	0.0529	0.1013		
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.0036			

Table 2.3Average Compression Moduli Comparison between FTC and P3.

Both the instantaneous modulus and the equilibrium modulus for the FTC menisci were significantly higher than the P3 menisci.

#### **Tensile Testing**

The FTC menisci were found to have an average tensile modulus of 29.6519 MPa, average ultimate tensile stress of 7.3234 MPa, average strain at failure was 0.3534, and the energy absorbed was calculated to be  $1.1856 \text{ J} \cdot \text{m}^{-3} \cdot 10^4$ . The P3 menisci were found to have an average tensile modulus of 72.3724 MPa, average ultimate tensile stress of 12.1215 MPa, average strain at failure was 0.2256, and the energy absorbed was calculated to be  $1.3380 \text{ J} \cdot \text{m}^{-3} \cdot 10^4$ .


	Tensile Modulus (MPa)	Ultimate tensile stress (MPa)	Strain at Failure	Energy Absorbed (J·m <sup>-3</sup> ·10 <sup>4</sup> )
FTC	29.6519	7.3234	0.3534	1.1856
P3	72.3724	12.1215	0.2256	1.3380
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.00003	0.00071	0.00003	0.39495

Table 2.4Comparison of tensile properties of FTC and P3 calculated from testing<br/>data.

The P3 menisci had a significantly higher tensile modulus and ultimate tensile stress than the FTC menisci. The P3 had a significantly lower strain at failure than the FTC menisci. There was no significant difference in the energy absorbed by the P3 and FTC menisci.

# **Experiment 3: Crosslinking Assessment and Permeability**

# **Crosslinking Assessment**

A vertical cross section was taken at random from each of the four treatment groups. Pigmentation is a side effect of both genipin and EGCG and it can be used as an estimate for degree of crosslinking, with more intensely pigmented regions having higher degrees of crosslinking. There was evidence that the permeability of genipin is determined by concentration, as the inner portions of the menisci proceed to get lighter as the dilution was increased.



Figure 2.14 Cross sections of four different crosslinking treatments. A) 0.2% Genipin B) 0.04% Genipin C) 0.008% Genipin D) 1% EGCG.



The degree of crosslinking, shown in Figure 2.15, was compared for each treatment. Statistical analysis on the values for the degree of crosslinking was computed using SAS. The critical value of t was found to be 2.08596 with a least significant difference of 23.152 at the significance level of  $\alpha$ =0.05. The values from Table 2.6 show that the outer portion of the 0.2% genipin treatment had the highest degree of crosslinking with 78.02%. There was no significant difference between 0.2% genipin and the 1% EGCG treatment with regards to degree of crosslinking in the inner portion of the menisci, and both had significantly higher degree of crosslinking in the inner portion than 0.04% and 0.008% genipin.



Figure 2.15 The permeability of genipin and EGCG as a crosslinking agent with regards to degree of crosslinking for menisci.



t-Test (LSD) for Degree of Crosslinking					
t Grouping		Mean	<b>Treatment and Portion</b>		
	Α	78.02	0.2% Genipin Outer		
	Α				
В	Α	60.82	1% EGCG Inner		
В					
В		53.98	1% EGCG Outer		
В					
В		47.74	0.2% Genipin Inner		
	С	24.47	0.04% Genipin Outer		
	С				
D	С	19.51	0.008% Genipin Outer		
D	C				
D	C	3.34	0.04% Genipin Inner		
D					
D		0.00	0.008% Genipin Inner		

Table 2.5T-Test (LSD) for degree of crosslinking for four differently crosslinking<br/>treatments.

The 1% EGCG had the most permeability as a crosslinker, despite not being indicated by a color change due to crosslinking. This can be inferred as it had only a 6.84% difference in the degree of crosslinking between the inner and outer portions, which was the smallest of all four treatments. The permeability of genipin decreased rapidly with dilution, with only 3.34% crosslinking at 0.04% genipin and 0.00% crosslinking at 0.008% genipin. However, after the initial significant decrease in the degree of crosslinking of the outer portion caused by genipin due to dilution from 0.2% to 0.04%, there was not a significant change in the degree of crosslinking as genipin was further diluted to 0.008%.



# **Crosslinking Permeability**

The average degree of crosslinking for control meniscus was 70.11% for the outer portion and 36.78% for the inner portion. The freeze-dry treatment had a degree of crosslinking of 68.64% for the outer portion and 37.61% for the inner portion. The salt solution bath and freezes-dry treatment had a 72.35% degree of crosslinking on the outer portion and a 31.07% degree of crosslinking on the inner portion.



Figure 2.16 Degree of Crosslinking results for the freezes-dry, the salt solution bath and freeze-dry, and control pretreatments for genipin crosslinking.

A statistical analysis of the data was conducted using SAS at the significance level of  $\alpha$ =0.05, the critical value of t was calculated to 2.00488 with a least significant difference of 0.0973. The outer portions had a significantly higher degree of crosslinking compared to the inner portions. However, there was no significant difference between pretreatment protocols with either the out or the inner segments.



T Tests (LSD) for Degree of Crosslinking of						
Pretreatment Protocols						
t Grouping	Mean	TRT				
А	0.72347	Salted+Freeze Dry (outer)				
А						
А	0.70110	Control (outer)				
А						
А	0.68643	Freeze Dry (outer)				
В	0.37607	Freeze Dry (inner)				
В						
В	0.36775	Control (inner)				
В						
В	0.31069	Salted+Freeze Dry (inner)				

 Table 2.6
 T-Tests (LSD) for the Degree of Crosslinking of Pretreatment Protocols.

#### Discussion

The goal of this study was to provide strong evidence to the proof of concept for the ability to produce a decellularized xenograft meniscus implant that could be used for a partial or full meniscectomy. It was hypothesized that an effective and more efficient antigen removal protocol can be developed that is comparable to current protocols, and that the decellularized scaffold created from that protocol can bioengineered to mimic native tissue in its mechanical properties. This study provides evidence that there is no significant difference between P3 and SP, a currently published and established protocol, with regards to DNA removal. In terms of production time, SP requires 240 hours (10 days) to complete, while P3 requires less than half, 49.17%, of that time at 118 hours (4 days, 22 hours) to fully process the tissue. The development of P3 supports the initial portion of the hypothesis that an antigen protocol can be developed that is not



65

significantly different from a well-established antigen removal protocol, but be more efficient in terms of production time and material consumed in production.

The antigen removal analysis showed that P3 significantly lowered the DNA and GAG content in the meniscus receiving the treatment, however, as can be seen in the test data and microscopy, there was residual porcine DNA and GAG content in the treated meniscus. There is currently no published data on the threshold of immunotolerance of a host to these residual antigens. Menisci in general are not very vascular tissues, so the likelihood of an immune response would be very low. The fact that P3 was not significantly different from SP in terms of antigen removal is promising, but further testing would need to be developed to ensure that the residual porcine material falls below the immune threshold so a transplant would not be rejected.

The relationships observed in the compression and tensile moduli of the FTC and P3 menisci support previous literature on decellularized collagen scaffolds.<sup>5</sup> Understanding the degree in which these values changes helps direct further research into the bioengineering of the tissue to the desired specifications. Further research into the coefficient of friction differences in the native tissue and the decellularized tissue would also be beneficial.

The third experiment provided insight into the crosslinking effects, should it be needed to treat a would-be implant. A dose of 0.2% genipin, which is relatively low, proved to induce the greatest degree of crosslinking of the meniscus tissue; however, its low permeability prevented an even degree of crosslinking throughout the tissue. The permeability of EGCG was far superior, which could be due to a different mechanism of crosslinkage than genipin.<sup>3</sup> Further research into the physical requires of the implant



66

would need to be established, particularly if the tissue must have an even level of crosslinking throughout or if a highly crosslinked outer portion with a softer inner portion would act as a better shock absorber. Research that could test the various crosslinkers *in situ* could be designed using this research's findings.

In conclusion, this study has provided strong evidence to a proof of concept that a decellularized xenograft meniscus scaffold can be effectively and efficiently produced and that it can be modified via collagen crosslinking to fit the specifications needed for it to be used as an implant for a partial or full meniscectomy.



### References

- Cheng CW, Solorio LD, Alsberg E. Decellularized tissue and cell-derived extracellular matrices as scaffolds for orthopaedic tissue engineering. Biotechnol 2014. Mar- Apr;32(2):462-84. [PubMed: PMC3959761]
- Elder S, Pinherio A, Young C, Smith P, Wright E. Evaluation of genipin for stabilization of decellularized porcine cartilage. J Orthop Res. 2016 Nov 18. [PubMed: 27859554]
- Pinheiro A, Cooley A, Liao J, Prabhu R, Elder S. Comparison of natural crosslinking agents for the atabilization of xenogenic articular cartilage. J Orthop Res. 2016 Jun;34(6):1037-46. [PubMed: 26632206]
- Bellefeuille M, Peters DF, Nolin M, Slusarewicz P, Telgenhoff D. Examination of toxicity and collagen linearity after the administration of the protein crosslinker genipin in equine tendon and dermis: a pilot study. Aust Vet J. 2017 May;95(5):167-173. [PubMed: 28444753]
- Lakes EH, Matuska AM, McFetridge PS, Allen KD. Mechanical integrity of a decellularized and laser drilled medial meniscus. J Biomech Eng. 2016 Mar;138(3):4032381. [PubMed: 26720513]

